IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID JAMES MARTIN,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC10-539

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE **FOURTH** JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR **CLAY** COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NADA M. CAREY
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0648825
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
SUITE 401
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 606-8500

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Motion to Suppress

At the suppression hearing, the parties presented argument, the videotaped interview, a transcript of the interview, and the testimony of Detective West. Martin challenged the admissibility of his statement on two grounds: (1) the police violated his Fifth Amendment right when they failed to stop questioning him after he told them, "I have nothing really to talk about," and (2) his statement was the product of improper police coercion.

The interrogation took place on March 20, 2008, at the Pinellas County Jail, where Martin had been incarcerated for shoplifting.

Jacey McWilliams had been missing since March 11, and her car had been found in Pinellas County and tied to Martin. The interview room was ten-by-ten, with blank walls, a table, and three chairs.

The interview began at 12:50 p.m., lasted three and a half hours, and was surreptitiously videotaped from start to finish. SR1:25-28.

What follows is a summary of the interrogation.³ Detectives Ken West and Brian Wolcott introduced themselves as "Ken" and "Brian," and West told Martin he had to read him his rights because he was in jail. Martin said he could read and write and though he never

³ This summary is from the written transcript, which was provided to the trial judge and utilized at the suppression hearing. R4:529-653. Portions of the interrogation were played and transcribed at the suppression hearing, SR1, and a redacted version was played and transcribed at trial. R11:530-758. The court-reported transcriptions contain many more inaudible parts than does the transcript used at the suppression hearing.

attended high school, he got his GED while in a juvenile facility, which he entered at age 15. West read the rights card, and Martin said he understood. West asked Martin to "sign this real quick," and Martin signed. R4:531-532.

Detective West told Martin they were looking for Jacey and were aware that he had taken her out on March 11. Martin said he had known Jacey since about February 20 and had taken her to Black Beach, in Middleburg, on March 11. Jacey had picked him up at his house in Jacksonville around 6:30, they ate at McDonald's, and they got to Black Creek around 8 or 8:30. They walked out on the dock, talked, and smoked cigarettes. Martin said he dropped Jacey off in her neighborhood in Jacksonville around 1:00 a.m. after giving her \$50 to let him use her car to visit his fiancée, Erin, in St. Pete. R4:533-545. He arrived at Erin's house about 5 a.m. The next day, March 13, Martin drove back to Jacksonville, packed up his stuff -clothes, a tool box, and toiletries -- and returned to St. Pete the next morning. R4:545-555. He hung out with Erin until he got arrested at Wal-Mart on Monday, March 17. He didn't understand why he stole the items from Wal-Mart, cologne and a watch, when he had a \$100 gift card: "I just have impulses and I will just do something." R4:556-564. He said his relationship with Jacey was not sexual but Erin worried about it and was "freaked out" that night because Martin's roommate had told her that Martin was sleeping with Jacey. R4:556-571, 11:630.

After about an hour of questioning, on page 50 of the transcript, Detective Wolcott told Martin that "evidence can't lie." R4:576. Wolcott drew a picture and explained how the cell phone towers showed where Martin's and Jacey's phones were that night and showed that Jacey's phone never returned to Jacksonville. R4:577-579. Wolcott continued:

You're not a bad person, okay? You had some minor shit and we've all had minor shit. I ain't in here to judge you brother. But you are tired. I can tell you're tired. It's been tough. Okay, I can see it in your eyes, man. You're not a monster, are you? Are you cold-blooded?

R4:579.

Wolcott then told Martin that Erin would not back him up:

And getting up in front of that jury of 12 people, we are going to parade a pretty little blonde haired girl that ain't never been in no trouble up there and set down and tell the story. Okay and then they are going to parade us and everyone we have talked to about everything else and then they are going to parade you up there. And like I said, I am not here to judge you. Okay, but let's face it. Common sense tells you who are they probably going to believe? Erin?

R4:580.

Wolcott continued:

The girl that hasn't ever been in trouble. Don't do this. She is not going to protect you. You have you, okay. There is an out. I mean there is a light at the end of this tunnel. Things happen for a reason. Okay, he and I go out and if he and I go out to a bar one night and a fight happens, okay, I'm going to defend myself man. I am not going to let someone hit me, but in the meantime while I'm hitting him back my intent may not be to hurt him back and my intent might not be to hurt him bad or potentially even kill him. That might not be my intent. Things might have just went wrong. People can understand that. People can relate to that. People have all been in that

<u>situation</u>. The situation people can't relate with is why something is done for no reason. Okay. <u>You need to help yourself</u>. We need to help her family. We need to get some answers, okay. It's that simple.

R4:580.

Wolcott told Martin:

[T]he best thing David can do for David is to help us find her. . . . Because you look like a monster if you don't. You really do. And you know where monsters go. Monsters go to prison. Monsters go to death row. Monsters never see the day of light again.

R4:580-581.

Wolcott told Martin:

Jacey's folks are hurting really bad right now. As we speak. They want nothing more than the answer of her.

R4:584-585. Martin said he didn't know what to tell them.

Wolcott then told Martin he had a future if he told them where Jacey was:

I see it right there, man. I see it on you and the moment I walked in you know, brother, you are a good kid. You have a long life to go. You got some minor little shit to take care of but you know what? That's stuff can be taken care of. There can be a future for David. . . . All we want are some answers for her family. Out of respect for them. Out of respect for her mama. It's that simple. I mean it's not that hard man. Don't make your life be over because of something so simple as just us giving her mom some closure.

R4: 585. Martin again said he didn't know where she was.

Wolcott continued:

Let's let David put this behind him so that he can move forward in life. Okay, the easiest way for David to let this go away and to start washing your hands and start looking forward to your future. Just by giving some answers, that's it.

R4: 586.

At then point, Martin admitted stealing Jacey's car but said he left her unharmed, standing on Horsetail Road in Middleburg.

R4:586-587. He stole her car because his fiancée "was really hurting" because his roommate "was constantly telling her, yea he's out with this girl. . . And he was hurting her and I didn't want to see her hurt. So I wanted to come see her." R4:589.

Wolcott then told Martin:

David is not a bad guy. David is not cold-hearted. David is not a monster, okay. She just didn't get out of the car.

R4:589.

When Martin continued to say he left Jacey by the road, Wolcott told him:

Don't let the little element of what happened ruin the rest of your life. Okay. You didn't want your fiancée to hurt, you had to get down here, I understand that. People can understand that. People have been hurt inside over love, okay. People have been hurt on the side of love. She just didn't get out of the car, David. Please, for her mom, man, if anything for her mom, okay.

R4:589.

Martin again said he didn't hurt Jacey. After Black Creek, they went to Jennings State Forest, and that's where he told her to get out of the car. He was "freaking out," and "out of my mind."

R4:589-591.

Wolcott told Martin he didn't want Martin to "piss away the rest of your life":

For me to go out there okay and talk to the people that are wanting to put you in prison, I need to be able to go out and say I mean he's got a heart. That's not what he wanted to happen. Call her mama up and say look, it's not how it had to be but it was. He is sorry and remorseful.

R4:591.

Wolcott gave Martin his card, which said he was in "homicide," and asked him to read it. Martin read the card and said, "To tell you the truth I don't even know what homicide means." Wolcott explained that homicide is "dying at the hands of another," which can be justifiable, excusable, or cold-blooded. R4:592.

Wolcott asked Martin if he wanted to spend time with Erin again, "hold her hand, go to the movies," "go to parks," and then said:

David, don't be the monster that we described and be the human now. Tell me where we can go get her and take her home to her mama.

R4:594-595.

Detective West said, "I don't think what happened, that you meant to happen. We don't think you are that type of person."

R4:596. Wolcott pointed to the drawing and told Martin "those people" are the jury and they wouldn't believe what he was telling them right now:

Let me go put my hands on her. Let me go do what's right. Let me go tell those people that David did what was right. That David got into a situation that he couldn't control. That David didn't mean to do what happened. David told me where she was at. David told me he was sorry for what happened. He didn't mean for this to happen. It wasn't planned. It just happened. Let me go get her and take her home. Do what is right David.

You are not a monster, David.

* * *

What are these people going to believe now when I walk in and say this is what we have?

* * *

I mean we already know what happened, but he is not remorseful for it. He doesn't care because he won't tell us anything. What do you think they are going to look at you as? They are going to look at you as the monster that you are not.

R4:598-599. Martin repeated that he left her on the road.

Wolcott told Martin that Martin wanted a car to come down to St. Pete and "from there, everything else, it wasn't planned. It was an accident, son." R4:602. When Martin responded, "people don't give a fuck about that," Wolcott said:

David, people do care. There is many a times that I have had cases where it was justified, excusable, there was not intent. Stuff like that, okay, and it just disappeared. But you know what happened in those cases. Everybody stepped up and told the truth. None of that can happen.

R4:602.

Then, on page 75 of the transcript, after Wolcott told Martin it would be a weight off knowing "that shit's behind me," the following colloquy took place:

Martin: You know what? I already feel that relief. You know why? Because I told you what I already told you.

Wolcott: David.

Martin: I have nothing really to talk about.

Wolcott: David you are not, okay, you may be saying that you are having it, okay, but your body is not saying that.

Martin: Because y'all are putting me under a lot of pressure right now.

Wolcott: Okay, well it's a pressure situation.

Martin: I know it is.

Wolcott: I don't know how many times you have sat

across from a homicide detective being questioned.

Martin: I never have.

R4:603. Wolcott then told Martin,

Okay, the two of us have been doing this job longer than you have been alive. Okay, we have seen other young people make this same mistake. They think that there isn't a way out that there is no light at the end of the tunnel and they can't help themselves and they can. I am telling you they can, but you, David, cannot help yourself by not being truthful.

R4:603-604.

West added:

It's black and white. We don't care obviously what happened here. All we want is to take her from where she's at and place her back with her family so they can do what's right. We don't care about anything else. All we want is -- so we can take her where she's at and put her where she belongs. That's what we want because that mother is the one that I and he had to sit next to while she balled and cried and cried and pleaded. What do I tell her? . . . I want to take her home to her mother so they can do what's right by her. I don't care what happened on that corner. I don't care what happened in Jennings Forest. . . I care about taking her and putting her where she belongs. She deserves that.

* * *

Help me get her back with her mama today so they can do what's right by her and you can be honest. Tell me how to go get her right now and take her home so her mother doesn't hurt any more and that we can do what's right by her so she doesn't lay somewhere where she doesn't need to be. Let me put her with her mother. That's what I would want to do for you if that was your mother or your sister or your father. I don't care about the rest. I would not want your mother to hurt like that and I spoke to your

mother and she wept and she cried because she thought I was coming to tell her that something bad had happened to you and I wasn't at all. Would you want her sitting there crying?

* * *

Okay. You want this mother to sit there and cry?

* * *

No. Because you are not that monster. You are not that monster, you know how to love. That's why you have had the relationships you have. Let me take this girl home to her mother today. Not another day, not Friday. Today. . . . I don't care about the rest. I really don't. Because I'm the one that has to drive back 4 hours and sit next to that mother, not you. And it hurts me just as much as it hurts you. It does, it hurts me to sit there and see that family going through what they're going through.

R4:604.

Martin said if it was that simple, he would tell them where she was. R4:605.

Wolcott again said:

I mean, is it worth pissing your life away for?

R4:606. Then, at page 78 of the transcript, the following colloquy takes place:

Wolcott: You are tired, okay. I can see it, man. You are tired, okay. Stop sorting for an answer you think that we are going to accept. Okay and just tell us the truth.

Martin: I am not trying to give more answers, I already gave you my answer.

Wolcott: Okay, okay. You haven't all the way. Okay, please, is it that difficult for you and me to have a man to man conversation.

Martin: Apparently.

R4:607. Martin again denied knowing where Jacey was.

Wolcott continued:

Her mom is torn. Can't eat, can't sleep. Cries, even
vomits, even throws up.

R4:608.

. . . And that's why we drove 4 hours to get here so we can take her home. She doesn't want to be one of those mom's going to these parades holding a sign up, help me find my child, 2 or 3 years down the road. Okay, families self destruct over this.

Wolcott told Martin it would be dark soon. Martin repeated that he told them where he left her and he didn't know what happened after that. R4:608.

Martin asked to use the bathroom, and when he was brought back, Wolcott told him:

[W]hen you went out I called and talked to her mom. . . . Okay, and in between tears and her choking up she begged me that her concern was her daughter. Okay, she appreciated everything that we are doing and she appreciated the fact that you were talking to us. Okay. . . . We might portray ourselves as tough guys because we are police officers and stuff like that. I was crying.

* * *

We need to do something for her. Okay. This is destroying her, all right.

* * *

There is a safety net. There is a huge difference from the David facing premeditated planned first degree monster cold-blooded murder, okay, to the other end of, it wasn't planned. It wasn't supposed to go like that. That's not my intent. A lot was going on . I am busting loose at the seams. I know that in my heart I need to get to this area. I am sorry, please. People care. She cared. Okay. She didn't ask me what's going to happen to David because I want to see that he goes to prison. She was like: I want my daughter. I need my daughter. . . . My partner and I have not lied to you. Everything we told you is the truth. David is not a premeditated murderer. Okay. Those people deserve to go to the electric chair.

Okay. But there's several things below it. Okay. You may be way down here, brother. I don't know, you may be up here. I don't know unless you tell me. I need to - you got to tell me. Okay. There is a reason why everything happens. Was it a moment of rage? What is it? I mean there is a reason.

* * *

Are you the guy that wrote notes and planned for this to happen?

R4:611-612. Martin said he was nowhere in the picture. 4 R4:612.

Wolcott told Martin it was his last chance to cooperate:

Like you said you are not at the top of the tree, you are at the bottom of the tree, okay. That's what people are going to view. You are not the monster. But you have got to help yourself now, because we are going to leave and it ain't like I can talk to you again tomorrow. And this is it. It's getting late. Now it's almost 3:30.

* * *

And it's going to be dark soon. And we still want to call this mother back. She's not dumb. She doesn't just miss work. Mom knows. She told us she knows. She just wants her back so she can do the right thing by her which makes you the better person because you allowed us to do that. You're not going to be viewed as the monster, but once I leave you're a monster and that's what everybody is going to look at and I'm not going to be able to say, yes, he helped me. I'm going to say, no, he didn't and you're going to be sitting there and you're going to hear me say it and I'm not going to lie and those other people are going to listen to it and you're going to be a monster, but I don't think that's really what happened. I mean I think she got hurt. I can understand. You didn't intend to do that. All you wanted was the car. You wanted a car to get to your fiancee and unfortunately in the process of getting that car it went bad, something at that point you couldn't control which doesn't put you at the top of the tree. Puts you at the bottom like he was explaining to you. So you need to make a decision. Are you going to be

⁴ The detectives had drawn a diagram of a tree apparently showing premeditated murder at the top and unintentional, excusable, and justifiable homicide at the bottom.

the monster or you going to tell me how I can take her home?

R4:615.

Wolcott told Martin "people screw up," that he himself took a Snickers bar from the grocery store when he was 6 years old. He said he was sorry, "[i]t was that simple." Martin said he had stolen a dog collar and leash when he was 7 or 8. Wolcott said he and Martin weren't that different and that mistakes happen, that Martin needed to tell Jacey's mama he was sorry:

It is uncontrollable for her. I would bet if she didn't have her family surrounding her, she would want to drive herself off the bridge or do something crazy because her whole life, her whole life right now is in turmoil. Does she deserve that?

R4:616-617.

Wolcott told Martin:

You deserve better than this. Your future with Erin deserves better than this. Okay.

* * *

Remember what we told you in the beginning? You weren't after Jacey. You were after the car.

* * *

And that's what I tried to explain to you earlier.

Accident's happen. You weren't after Jacey, you were after the vehicle.

* * *

Accidents happen. People understand accidents. They don't understand monsters.

R4:618-619.

You know when they get down to the court room . . . and you get the family members, they come up there on the

witness stand and cry and plead and at the same time say, Your Honor, please. The individual, what they did was wrong, but they had a heart and I forgive them. Okay. Especially religious folks. Okay. This is forgiveness, man. I don't know if you follow the Bible and I'm not going to sit here and give you a Bible lesson, okay, but one of the main things it preaches is forgiveness. No matter what the person did that was so bad. Okay. There is forgiveness.

* * *

Whether or not you want to trust me, that's fine. Okay. I am not the one that makes the decision about what happens with the rest of your life. The guy in the robe up there is the one that is going to make a decision about what happens to the rest of your life. Okay. The attorney isn't going to be the one. It's going to be these people right here. The people like David and me who had stole. They got the candy. They got the dog chain. Okay. They are just folks. They have hearts. They make mistakes. Okay. Forgiveness. Repenting. But what they are not going to accept is being lied to.

R4:619.

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