IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID JAMES MARTIN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-539

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR CLAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

THOMAS D. WINOKUR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 906336

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
PL-01, THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300
(850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

other" (IB 90). This claim conveniently ignores Appellant's trial testimony. While these accounts may have been consistent with each other, they were specifically disclaimed by Appellant in his sworn testimony at trial, where he denied killing Jacey McWilliams at all. One wonders how Appellant can claim that the CCP aggravator must fail based upon a hypothesis that he specifically denied at trial.

Accordingly, the court did not err in finding the CCP aggravator.

ISSUE III

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FIND THAT THREE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES, EMOTIONAL ABUSE, SEXUAL ABUSE AND REMORSE, WERE NOT PROVEN? (Restated)

Appellant asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in rejecting emotional abuse, sexual abuse, and remorse as non-statutory mitigation. The trial court rejected these mitigating factors as not proven. A trial court may find mitigation was not proven. Thus, the trial court properly considered and rejected this proposed mitigation.

The trial court's ruling:

The trial court rejected emotional abuse mitigation as not proven, finding that the defendant presented only "anecdotal evidence" to support this mitigator. The trial court stated that the defendant "did not provide evidence showing how the alleged incidents impacted his ability to know right from wrong

or kept him from being a law abiding member of society." The trial court rejected sexual abuse mitigation as not proven, finding that the defendant's mother testimony that she "suspected" he had been sexually abused but could not confirm the abuse was insufficient. The trial court rejected remorse mitigation as not proven, finding the defendant's remorse was "insincere and an act." The trial court relied on the defendant's own trial testimony in support.

Preservation:

This issue is not preserved. Appellant did not file a motion for rehearing of the sentencing order. Appellant should have pointed out to the trial court the errors regarding these three mitigating circumstances. Appellant did not object in the trial court on the same basis he now asserts is error on appeal.

Standard of review:

A trial court's decision as to whether that circumstance is established is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Ault v. State, 53 So.3d 175, 187 (Fla. 2010). This does not seem to be the correct standard of review. Normally, a trial court's finding that a matter was not proven is a factual, evidentiary matter that is normally reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. Under either standard of review, however, Appellant cannot prevail.

Merits:

A trial court may reject a proposed mitigator if the mitigator is not proven or if there is competent, substantial evidence to support its rejection. Ault v. State, 53 So.3d 175, 186 (Fla. 2010)(citing Coday v. State, 946 So.2d 988, 1003 (Fla. 2006)). Even expert opinion evidence may be rejected if that evidence cannot be reconciled with other evidence in the case. Ault, 53 So.3d at 186. The rejection of the mitigation must have a rational basis, such as conflict with other evidence, credibility or impeachment of the witness, or other reasons. Coday v. State, 946 So.2d 988, 1005 (Fla. 2006).

The trial court rejected the proposed mitigation of sexual abuse as not proven. Appellant's mother only "suspected" that he had been sexually abused, she could not confirm the sexual abuse (V15 1164-65, 1177). A rejection of a proposed mitigator on the basis that it is pure speculation is certainly rational.

The trial court rejected the proposed mitigation of remorse as not proven. The trial court relied on the defendant's own trial testimony that his remorse was insincere and an act as a basis for a finding that this mitigator was not proven. A trial court is certainly free to rely on a defendant's own sworn testimony as support for rejecting a mitigator. While it is true that Appellant's version of events changed numerous times, that is actually the point. Appellant's remorse and acceptance

of responsibility, if any, was inconsistent. Thus, the trial court properly considered and rejected this proposed mitigation.

Harmless error:

A trial court's findings on mitigation are also subject to harmless error analysis. Ault v. State, 53 So.3d 175, 187 (Fla. 2010). If there is no likelihood of a different sentence, then the error must be deemed harmless. Ault v. State, 53 So.3d 175, 195 (Fla. 2010). In Ault v. State, 53 So.3d 175, 195-196 (Fla. 2010), this Court found that the trial court erred in rejecting brain damage; adjustment to life in prison; low IQ; acceptance of responsibility; remorse; and pedophilia but found the error to be harmless. This Court explained that reversal is permitted only if the excluded mitigating factors reasonably could have resulted in a lesser sentence. The Ault Court noted that in several prior cases, this Court had found that a trial court's error in failing to consider mitigating evidence was harmless in light of the aggravating circumstances. Ault, 53 So.3d at 195-196 (discussing cases). In Ault, the trial court had found five aggravators, each of which was assigned either great weight, significant weight, or, as to HAC, maximum weight. The trial court determined that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances. This Court noted that even if each of the rejected mitigating factors had been found by the trial court (and it is not certain that the court would

have found some of those factors even if it had conducted the proper analysis), this Court found "no reasonable possibility that Ault would have received a different sentence." Ault, 53 So.3d at 196.

Here, the trial court's rejection of the proposed trial court mitigation was harmless. The found aggravating circumstances and gave each of them great weight. In contrast, the trial court here found eleven non-statutory mitigators but each was given only slight weight. Even if the trial court had found emotional abuse as a twelfth mitigator, there is no reasonable possibility that Appellant would have received a different sentence. The error was harmless.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT HAS AN INDEPENDENT DUTY TO CONSIDER MITIGATING EVIDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANT WAIVES? (Restated)

Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in not considering Dr. Krop's deposition testimony as a basis for mitigation. Appellant asserts that the trial court's failure to consider this evidence was a violation of Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 102 S.Ct. 869 (1982). Appellant waived the presentation of Dr. Krop's testimony. The Supreme Court has held, that hinted, much less а trial court constitutionally consider mitigating evidence that the defendant waived. Nor has the Supreme Court ever hinted, much less held,

that a trial court has a constitutional duty to independently locate mitigating evidence. The mitigating evidence at issue in <code>Eddings</code> was proposed by defense counsel. Furthermore, the error, if any, in the trial court's failure to consider Dr. Krop's deposition was harmless. Dr. Krop's deposition testimony was that Appellant had an antisocial personality disorder. Dr. Krop's deposition, while it supported some mitigation, could be used to rebut that mitigation and all other mitigation as well.

The trial court's ruling:

Dr. Krop did not testify at the penalty phase. While Dr. Krop's report and deposition was introduced at the *Spencer* hearing, Dr. Krop did not testify at the *Spencer* hearing either. At the *Spencer* hearing, defense counsel introduced both the report and deposition of Dr. Krop as a package and stated that Dr. Krop "essentially diagnosed Mr. Martin with an antisocial personalty disorder" (SV2 201; V5 737 - deposition of Dr. Krop).

Dr. Krop testified at the deposition that he examined Appellant on May 14, 2008 for over five hours (V5 741). Dr. Krop examined Appellant again on May 28, 2008 (V5 744). Dr. Krop administered both a neuropsychological evaluation and personality tests to Appellant (V5 744). Dr. Krop administered the Beck Anxiety Inventory; the Beck Depression Inventory; the MMPI-2; the Mooney problem Checklist; a drug survey; the Michigan Alcohol Screening test; and the Wechsler Abbreviated

Scale of Intelligence test (V5 745), and wrote a report on October 1, 2009 (V5 743).

Dr. Krop noted that on the MMPI-2 test, the scale that was "most significantly elevated was the psychopathic deviance scale." (V5 747-748). Appellant's profile was "pretty much a pathological profile" (V5 748). Dr. Krop noted that Appellant had "been in trouble since he was a young kid" (V5 748). Appellant's highest scores were on the psychopathic deviance scales (V5 748-749). Appellant's antisocial behavior "reflected in his testing as well as his past history" (V5 749). Hare Psychopathy Dr. Krop did not administer the checklist, he opined that if he had used the Hare Psychopathy measure, he projected that Appellant "probably would have come out relatively high on the psychopathic traits" (V5 749-750, Dr. Krop believed that he did not need to do that measure because it was clear from Appellant's self-reported history that he would probably meet both the criteria on the Hare scale and on the DSM-IV manual (V5 750). Appellant would score high on both Hare and MMPI (V5 752). Dr. Krop diagnosed Appellant as having "antisocial personalty disorder." (V5 753).

Dr. Krop also diagnosed Appellant as having substance abuse (V5 755). Appellant's I.Q. was in the normal range (V5 756). Dr. Krop testified that Appellant did not suffer from any major

mental illness (V5 757). Dr. Krop noted Appellant's "compulsion" for stealing "throughout his life." (V5 758).

Appellant reported to Dr. Krop that he did not tell his mother of father about the sexual abuse "because he didn't want to be in more trouble" and was concerned that his mother would not believe him (V5 742).

Appellant also recounted the facts of the murder to Dr. Krop (V5 759). Appellant and the victim went to Black Creek in Middleburg (V5 759). Appellant had known her for about two weeks and she had done favors for Appellant including taking him places and buying him lunch (V5 759). Appellant wanted to see his girlfriend, Erin, who lived in St. Petersburg (V5 760). Appellant then demonstrated to Dr. Krop how he struck the victim with the hammer (V5 761,765). Appellant expressed remorse (V5 762-763).

Appellant while never having seizures or head trauma claimed to have a history of blackouts (V5 764). Dr. Krop described the blackouts as disassociative episodes (V5 765). Dr. Krop testified that Appellant has a full scale I.Q. of 109 (V5 767). Dr. Krop found "no deficits at all" in his neuropsychological evaluation (V5 767). Appellant did "exceeding well" on the neuropsychological tests (V5 767).

At the later interview, Appellant told Dr. Krop that he had lied to him and the cops about murdering the victim (V5 775).

Appellant now claimed that someone else committed the murder (V5 775). Appellant claimed that he falsely confessed to the murder because he was being threatened by the murderer (V5 775). Dr. Krop expressed his disbelief to Appellant (V5 776). Appellant admitted to Dr. Krop that if he took a polygraph that he was not sure that he could pass it (V5 776). Appellant received three DRs in jail during this time (V5 776).

Dr. Krop had seen Appellant again about one week before the deposition (V5 778). Appellant then admitted to being the murderer during his interview (V5 779). Appellant told Dr. Krop that he had not been drinking on the day of the murder (V5 780). Dr. Krop did not find either statutory mental mitigators to be present (V5 785). Dr. Krop did state that Appellant "derives from a very dysfunctional family." (V5 785). Dr. Krop listed his mother's alcohol abuse; his conflicts with his step-mother; his father's abandonment of him including not attending the trial; his history of being sexually abused by an adolescent neighbor; his use of drugs and his dissociation to cope with stress which is common in sexual abuse victim as likely areas that he would testify regarding if he was called to testify in the penalty phase (V5 785-787).

Appellant was put on medication when he was younger but his mother took him off the medication (V5 788). His mother had him admitted to Charter by the Sea because she thought he was being

emotionally, and possibly sexually, abused by his step-mother (V5 788). Appellant stayed in Charter by the Sea until the insurance money ran out (V5 788). His mother believed that Charter by the Sea made him a bad person (V5 788). Appellant's mother told Dr. Krop that he was a perfect kid before going to Charter by the Sea but became a bad kid in that institution. (V5 788). Dr. Krop stated that the mother's perception is that the reason Appellant turned out was everyone else's fault and that she had nothing to do with him turning out this way (V5 788). Appellant's mother blames everyone on the father's side family Appellant's problems the for (V5 789-790). Appellant's mother was a "pretty severe alcoholic" which had a "significant impact" on Appellant (V5 788-789).

Appellant's step-mother locked him in a closet (V5 789). His mother did not provide any discipline or rules but the father and step-mother provided structure, rules and discipline (V5 790). Appellant "did not like that" (V5 790). Dr. Krop has spoken with the mother, father, step-father, and grandfather (V5 790). The family used Appellant as a pawn against each other (V5 791). Dr. Krop also spoke with Mr. Gottlieb who was a counselor at Clay Behavioral (V5 796). Appellant had been sent to Clay Behavioral after he got out of a juvenile program (V5 796). Dr. Krop admitted that he had no independent evidence that Appellant was sexually abused by the neighbor (V5 792).

Appellant filed a sentencing memorandum of law (V5 800-815). The sentencing memo refers to Dr. Krop not in the mitigation section, but instead in the section addressing the State's aggravating circumstance of being on felony probation. The memo refers to Dr. Krop's findings that Appellant's dysfunctional family contributed to his diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder (V5 804). The memo refers to Dr. Krop's report noting Appellant's substance abuse and that Appellant never received the individualized treatment required by statute, but the memo then acknowledges that Appellant left the treatment facility after a week. The memo refers to the report, not the deposition (V5 804). The memo does not refer to Dr. Krop at any point in the proposed mitigation section (V5 809-815).

The trial court's sentencing order did not include any reference to Dr. Krop's deposition testimony. While the trial court did not consider Dr. Krop's deposition as a basis for finding sexual abuse as a mitigator, the trial court also did not consider Dr. Krop's diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder in rejecting any mitigation.

Preservation:

This issue is not preserved. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, the trial court has no duty to independently comb the record for mitigation. Rather, it is the duty of defense counsel to present mitigation the trial court. While this Court

in Spann v. State, 857 So.2d 845, 857-858 (Fla. 2003), stated that mitigating evidence must be considered and weighed when it is contained anywhere in the record including when the defendant asks the court not to consider mitigating evidence, this Court stated that, "because nonstatutory mitigation individualized, the defense must share the burden and identify for the court the specific nonstatutory mitigation it attempting to establish." Imposing an independent duty on the trial court to identity non-statutory mitigation is simply unworkable and just invites sandbagging on appeal. A trial court simply cannot be expected to guess what could possibly be viewed as mitigating by appellate counsel or this Court. certainly is not evident to a reasonable person that an expert finding that Appellant was antisocial and did not suffer from any major mental illness should be considered as mitigating. Moreover, imposing such an independent duty undermines both the adversarial system and the trial court's role as a neutral and detached magistrate. A trial court should not be put in a position of being second chair defense counsel. This claim of mitigation based on Dr. Krop's deposition was never made in the trial court and as such, this issue is not preserved.

Standard of review:

This claim essentially asserts fundamental error because the proposed mitigation on appeal was never proposed in the

trial court. Claims of fundamental error are necessarily reviewed de novo. Elliot v. State, 49 So.3d 269, 270 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010).

Merits:

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